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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Welcome to this

          3  meeting of the City Council Finance Committee. My

          4  name is David Weprin and I'm Chair of the Finance

          5  Committee. Today's hearing will be the second

          6  hearing on Intro. No. 143, a local law to establish

          7  the Flatbush Nostrand Junction BID in the Borough of

          8  Brooklyn and the second item is legislation

          9  authorizing the expenditure of Payments In Lieu Of

         10  Taxes, or PILOTs, for the financing of the new Bronx

         11  and Queens Stadium Projects.

         12                 Earlier this month, this Committee

         13  held an oversight hearing on the proposed financing

         14  plan of these stadium projects to better understand

         15  and discuss details relating to the City's, State's

         16  and team's contributions to the project. It was an

         17  all-day hearing.

         18                 The proposed new Yankee Stadium

         19  project is expected to cost almost $1.2 billion, of

         20  which the City will contribute approximately 160

         21  million for parks and infrastructure improvements

         22  and the State will contribute approximately $75

         23  million.

         24                 The proposed new Mets Stadium Project

         25  is expected to cost a little over $800 million, of
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          2  which the City will contribute approximately 90

          3  million for infrastructure and capital, and the

          4  State will spend $75 million.

          5                 The remainder and majority of the

          6  cost will be borne by the teams and will be financed

          7  through the issuance of taxable and tax exempt bonds

          8  by the City's industrial development agency or IDA.

          9                 The teams will make Payments In Lieu

         10  Of Taxes to the IDA which will be used by the IDA to

         11  service a tax exempt debt assuming IRS approval.

         12                 Payments In Lieu Of Taxes, or PILOTs,

         13  as they are commonly called, are generally payments

         14  to the City to reimburse it for the lost property

         15  taxes when an economic development agency is

         16  involved in a project, and the project is not

         17  subject to property taxes.

         18                 Currently the City owns the land on

         19  which both the Yankees and Mets Stadium sit and

         20  teams make lease payments to the City each year.

         21                 Both proposed news stadiums will be

         22  built on City property, which will be turned over to

         23  the IDA. The IDA will issue the bonds to finance the

         24  construction of each stadium, because stadium bonds

         25  can only be tax exempt if they are repayable by
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          2  municipal revenues. The bonds would be serviced by

          3  PILOTs made by the teams to the City of New York.

          4                 The maximum amount of the PILOT will

          5  be what the team would have paid in property taxes

          6  on the new stadium, if it were not on publicly-owned

          7  property and used to pay the tax exempt portion of

          8  the bonds.

          9                 Based on estimates provided by the

         10  City's Department of Finance on the market value of

         11  the proposed stadiums, the maximum amount of the

         12  Yankees PILOT is expected to be $62.5 million per

         13  year, and in the case of the Mets, the PILOT will

         14  not exceed $50 million.

         15                 The Council's approval in the amount

         16  of the PILOT to be used for these projects would be

         17  limited by the amount the teams would have paid in

         18  property taxes if the new property was subject to

         19  property tax.

         20                 Because the stadiums will be built on

         21  City-owned property, once the debt is paid off, the

         22  PILOT payments made by the teams will go into the

         23  City's general fund.

         24                 In October of last year, the Council,

         25  together with the Mayor, approved legislation that
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          2  provides that pilots that have not been remitted to

          3  the general fund, may only be spent in a manner

          4  agreed to by the Council and the Mayor and such

          5  agreement must be approved by resolution. Because

          6  the current Stadium projects contemplate the use of

          7  PILOTs, which will not be remitted to the general

          8  fund, but instead be used to pay off the bonds, the

          9  Council much approve such use.

         10                 The two resolutions before us today

         11  would authorize the PILOTs paid by the Yankees, to

         12  be used to service the IDA tax exempt debt issued

         13  for the Bronx project, and the PILOTs paid by the

         14  Mets to service the tax exempt debt for the Queens

         15  project.

         16                 Like many of my colleagues, I would

         17  like to see our City's teams get new homes, and I

         18  believe both of these deals would be beneficial to

         19  the residents of the City of New York.

         20                 In addition to the PILOT legislation

         21  today, today's hearing will be the second hearing on

         22  Intro. No. 143, the local law to establish the

         23  Flatbush Nostrand Junction BID in the Borough of

         24  Brooklyn.

         25                 On March 22nd, 2006, this Committee
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          2  held the opening hearing on this Intro and gave all

          3  those interested in the establishment of the BID an

          4  opportunity to appear.

          5                 We then adjourned the hearing for the

          6  statutorily-mandated 30-day objection period. We

          7  will hear from Small Business Services, but it is my

          8  understanding that no objections were filed.

          9  Therefore, if we can answer the following four

         10  questions affirmatively, we may adopt the local law

         11  establishing the BID.

         12                 The four questions we must be

         13  prepared to answer are:

         14                 1) Were all notices of hearings for

         15  all hearings required to be held, published and

         16  mailed as required by law and otherwise sufficient?

         17                 2) Does all the real property within

         18  the district boundaries benefit from the

         19  establishment of the district, except as otherwise

         20  provided by the law?

         21                 3) is all real property benefitted by

         22  the district included within the district?

         23                 And 4) is the establishment of the

         24  district in the best interests of the public?

         25                 If the Committee finds in the

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  affirmative on these four questions, and the number

          3  of objections required to prevent the creation of

          4  the BID were not filed, then the legislation can be

          5  adopted.

          6                 We will now hear from the Department

          7  of Small Business Services on the Flatbush Nostrand

          8  Junction BID, which we are considering for the

          9  second time. I believe we have George Glatter from

         10  the Department of Small Business Services.

         11                 Let me introduce my colleagues that

         12  are here. We have Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr.,

         13  from Queens, Council Member Mike McMahon from Staten

         14  Island, Council Member Bill DeBlasio from Brooklyn,

         15  Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan, Council

         16  Member Helen Sears from Queens, Councilman Jim Oddo

         17  from Staten Island, Councilman Dennis Gallagher from

         18  Queens, Councilman Alan Gerson from Manhattan, and

         19  Council Member Oliver Koppell from the Bronx. And

         20  seated next to me is Anne Brown, Counsel to the

         21  Finance Committee.

         22                 Mr. Glatter.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER: Good

         24  afternoon, Chairman, and members of the Finance

         25  Committee. I'm George Glatter, Assistant
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          2  Commissioner at the Department of Small Business

          3  Services.

          4                 As required by the BID law, the

          5  Flatbush Nostrand Junction BID Steering Committee

          6  mailed the summary of the City Council resolution to

          7  each owner of real property within the proposed

          8  district at the address shown on the latest City

          9  assessment role, or to such other persons as are

         10  registered with the City to receive tax bills

         11  concerning real property within the district, and to

         12  tenants of each building within the proposed

         13  district.

         14                 In addition, SBS arranged for the

         15  required publication of a copy of a summary of the

         16  resolution in the City record.

         17                 We are pleased to report on the

         18  result of the objections filed with the City Clerk

         19  against the establishment of the proposed Flatbush

         20  Nostrand Junction Business Improvement District.

         21                 At the conclusion of the objection

         22  period at 5:00 p.m. on April 20th, and taking into

         23  consideration any objections post marked by that

         24  date, no objections were filed.

         25                 Our review concluded that the level
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          2  of objections filed, in terms of either the number

          3  of property owners or the percentage of assessed

          4  valuation is within the acceptable threshold needed

          5  to advance the bill for a favorable consideration by

          6  the full City Council.

          7                 The Department of Small Business

          8  Services supports the establishment of the Flatbush

          9  Nostrand Junction BID. In our judgment, the BID will

         10  improve business conditions in the quality of life

         11  in the junction area, and make it a good place to

         12  live, work and visit, and laying the foundation for

         13  further neighborhood development activities in the

         14  Flatbush/Midwood Section of Brooklyn.

         15                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Glatter.

         18                 We've been joined by Council Member

         19  Robert Jackson from Manhattan. We have a quorum.

         20                 Any questions for Mr. Glatter on the

         21  proposed BID?

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 Any questions from any members on the

         24  proposed PILOT legislation, or the BID?

         25                 Council Member Gerson.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: On the PILOT

          3  legislation, with respect to -- I'm getting an echo

          4  here, and I hate hearing myself. No comment -- but

          5  with respect to the PILOT as it pertains to Queens,

          6  and new Queens Stadium, and I ask that because I

          7  asked a similar question at the last meeting of the

          8  Yankees when I asked them to state for the record

          9  what annual payments, if any, they had committed to

         10  making for community-related programs and projects

         11  and they spelled out, you know, they spelled out

         12  their commitments.

         13                 I would just like to ask any of my

         14  colleagues, if you know of, or if anyone here is

         15  aware of and in a position to tell us if there have

         16  been similar commitments on the part of the Shea or

         17  the Mets organization? And if so, if we could get an

         18  overview of what they are?

         19                 This is beyond the PILOT I

         20  understand.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, I understand.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But it relates

         23  to it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council member,

         25  all I can say is that the purpose of this hearing
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          2  and the private hearing was specifically on the

          3  pilot financing, which is our legislative mandate.

          4                 I could just state generally that

          5  there were a number of meetings taking place on

          6  other issues, not only with the Mets and Yankees

          7  before that, but with the City of New York regarding

          8  various other things, and there was an agreement

          9  reached outside of the PILOT process, which

         10  satisfied the Queens Delegation, and I know the

         11  Bronx Delegation was satisfied before.

         12                 So, I don't really want to get into

         13  it in this hearing, other than to say that there

         14  were other issues, ancillary issues, unrelated to

         15  the PILOT payments which addressed, you know, all

         16  parties and are subject to conversation at another

         17  date. But for purposes of this hearing, I really

         18  want to confine questions or statements regarding

         19  the financing of the project, either the Mets or the

         20  Yankee Stadium and the use of the PILOT payments.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: If I may, and

         22  I'll accept and appreciate the explanation, I raise

         23  this point in this hearing with conjunction with the

         24  pilot because of a concern I previously expressed

         25  over the fact that, as you pointed out in your
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          2  opening statement, Mr. Chair, what would have been

          3  paid in real estate taxes sets the maximum for the

          4  pilot payment, but in fact, there would be, and we

          5  would expect payments to be below that, and

          6  therefore I felt addressing it through the means you

          7  referenced, agreements with the delegation with the

          8  City with community organizations to deal with

          9  community needs were one way of kind of dealing with

         10  the public policy issues raised by that gap, and I

         11  will accept your explanation that those have been --

         12  not accept -- I appreciate your explanation that

         13  those issues have been thoroughly dealt with and

         14  concluded on the part of the Queens Delegation. So,

         15  I thank you for that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         17                 Council Member McMahon.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman.

         20                 My concern is if you could just

         21  clarify for us the issue as presented to us at the

         22  hearing regarding the what if scenario because the

         23  two financing programs are subject to approval by

         24  the Internal Revenue Service.

         25                 And this was brought up a little bit
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          2  downstairs, but if you could just clarify for us on

          3  the record before we vote, explain to us what is

          4  still contingent upon IRS approval? And if that

          5  approval is not totally or partially received, how

          6  will it affect the things that we're voting on here

          7  today?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The IRS approval

          9  which we expect, my understanding, from both teams

         10  and their underwriters and bond council, is that

         11  they expect that approval some time in June, prior

         12  to going to the bond market.

         13                 The IRS ruling just affects the tax

         14  exempt portions of the bond. The IRS will make a

         15  determination as to what portion of the bonds are

         16  eligible for tax exemption, based on the revenue

         17  stream that I outlined in my opening statement where

         18  the City of New York will be making the payments

         19  once the PILOT payments are paid to the IDA and the

         20  revenue will be reserved for payment of the tax

         21  exempt bonds.

         22                 The IRS ruling may determine how much

         23  of the bond issue is going to be tax exempt and how

         24  much will be taxable. The taxable bonds will be

         25  supported by debt service in rental payments. They

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  will be lease payments or rental payments made to

          3  the City of New York which will go directly to

          4  support the debt service on the taxable bond.

          5                 So, the IRS ruling is relevant, as

          6  far as the tax exempt portion. My understanding is

          7  that they will rule that a certain portion of the

          8  bonds will be tax exempt. The question is what

          9  percentage that will be, what the amount will be.

         10  That will just determine how the Mets or the Yankees

         11  ultimately decide to pay for the project, which is

         12  their project.

         13                 So, there is generally, as we heard

         14  testimony at the extensive hearing, there's a one

         15  percent differential in today's current market

         16  between tax exempt bonds and taxable bonds, and they

         17  would have to be prepared to pay, on the taxable

         18  portion, about one percent more, and they would do

         19  their own evaluation.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But that tax

         21  exempt portion is a significant factor in creating

         22  their funding stream to do this project.

         23                 So, if the IRS rules against the

         24  application for tax exempt status, will that affect

         25  the outcome of this whole project?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes. It is the

          3  conditional approval basically.

          4                 I mean, we're only approving the

          5  PILOT payment on the condition that IRS says that

          6  they're eligible for tax exempt. Because PILOT

          7  payments are directly related to supporting the debt

          8  and the taxes and bond issue.

          9                 So, it's basically, what we're

         10  approving today is basically a conditional approval

         11  on IRS signing off on the tax exempt portion. If

         12  there is no tax exempt portion, there are no PILOT

         13  payments.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And then just

         15  in laypersons' terms, then would they be back to the

         16  drawing board to come up with a finance --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: They could. In

         18  theory, yes. We   hope it doesn't occur after all

         19  these months and months of hard work on everybody's

         20  part.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: By asking

         22  these questions I by no means mean to infer that I'm

         23  cheering for them not to get tax exempt status. I'm

         24  just trying to clarify what I'm voting for, and just

         25  to make clear that in any event, if the ruling from
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          2  the IRS is unfavorable, in whole or in part, we are

          3  in no way obligating the City of New York to be

          4  responsible for any additional payments other than

          5  what is in the original outline; is that correct?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, it's like any

          7  other capital project. It's subject to the IRS

          8  ruling.

          9                 Any time we do a capital budget,

         10  which of course are funded by tax exempt bonds,

         11  there's always got to be an IRS ruling prior to the

         12  issuance of the bond. So, it would be no different

         13  than any other capital commitment of the City of New

         14  York.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         17  Comrie.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Actually that

         19  was the line of questions that I was going to ask.

         20                 Mr. Chair, this is a resolution

         21  pending the notification from the IRS, or is this a

         22  resolution that will go ahead one way or the other?

         23  I'm not clear on that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, as a

         25  practical matter, Council member, if the IRS doesn't
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          2  approve it, there is no tax exempt bonds and there

          3  are no PILOT payments, so it's a conditional

          4  approval in that sense.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, the IDA

          6  couldn't do bonds even without the tax exempt

          7  ruling?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, they could do

          9  taxable bonds.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: They could do

         11  taxable bonds. And would that still be debt-free to

         12  the City?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, they would be

         14  taxable bonds. It would be about a percent higher.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I'm not a bond

         16  person. I don't own a stock or a bond.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: It wouldn't be

         18  PILOT payments. They would just be rents which would

         19  be used to support the -- what they would have paid

         20  in PILOT payments, they'll end up paying in rent,

         21  which they'll use to support the taxable bonds.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But the IDA

         23  would still float the loan?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: It could.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But if they
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          2  would be free at that point to look somewhere else?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. I was

          5  just trying to understand, when the IDA was here,

          6  they said their bonding was creating the ability to

          7  ensure that there would be no fault; is that only

          8  because of the tax exempt status, they couldn't do

          9  that within the regular market?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, you know,

         11  I'm not going to speak for the IDA. Seth Pinksi I

         12  understand is here from the IDA. If you could come

         13  forward, Mr. Pinski. As soon as he takes his coat

         14  off.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And, again,

         16  I'm in no way trying to -- you know, as Council

         17  Member McMahon said, that we don't want this to go

         18  forward, I'm just concerned that it seemed like

         19  we're voting conditionally, and whether or not the

         20  language reflects this as a conditional vote.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, Mr. Pinski,

         22  the question was raised by Councilman Comrie and by

         23  a few other colleagues as to what happens if the IRS

         24  doesn't approve the tax exempt status of bond

         25  issued. To sum it up, that's basically what we're
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          2  asking, and I indicated that obviously our approval

          3  on the PILOT payments is, you know, conditional on

          4  the IRS ruling, because if there is no IRS ruling,

          5  there is no tax exempt bonds, and there is no PILOT

          6  payments. But if you want to clarify the issue for

          7  the membership?

          8                 MR. PINKSI: That's correct.

          9                 As I mentioned in my testimony

         10  earlier, our lawyers have advised us that they

         11  believe --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: If you could just

         13  identify yourself for the record.

         14                 MR. PINSKI: Seth Pinski. I'm the

         15  Senior Vice President at the Economic Development

         16  Corporation.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         18                 MR. PINSKI: Our lawyers have

         19  indicated to us that they believe this is a

         20  structure that will gain IRS approval. We obviously

         21  need to actually receive confirmation from the IRS

         22  on that.

         23                 In the event that the IRS does not

         24  give us approval to the structure, then the

         25  structure won't go forward. We won't be able to use
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          2  the PILOTs for tax exempt debt, and the teams will

          3  need to go back to the drawing board and figure out

          4  how to structure this debt.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: If you can't

          6  do it as tax exempt, could you still float the same

          7  kind of IDA bonds that are protected against the

          8  City without the tax exempt portion?

          9                 MR. PINSKI: The City protection has

         10  nothing to do with the tax exempt status.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         12                 MR. PINKSI: The IDA bonds are going

         13  to be issued in manner whether they're tax exempt or

         14  taxable.

         15                 And remember, under this structure a

         16  portion of the bonds will be taxable anyway.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

         18                 MR. PINSKI: And both the taxable and

         19  the tax exempt portion will not implicate the credit

         20  of this City or the IDA.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Oh, okay. So,

         22  that pretty much answers the question then. You can

         23  still float the bonds, it's just that the interest

         24  rate will be a little different.

         25                 MR. PINSKI: That's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. That

          3  clears that up.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I just want to

          6  address Councilman Gerson's concern, to say that

          7  I'll highlight it at the Stated Meeting, but the

          8  Queens Delegation is comfortable with the good faith

          9  efforts on both the Administration and the Mets to

         10  have a positive understanding with the community and

         11  with the entire Council, and to make sure that we

         12  are doing that is still a work in progress, but

         13  where the Queens Delegation is comfortable with

         14  where we are today.

         15                 I just wanted to speak to the members

         16  specifically regarding when you have large projects

         17  in your district regarding infrastructure and the

         18  issues around the project, you need to make sure

         19  that you reach out to the Administration as soon as

         20  possible.

         21                 One of the things that happened in

         22  this process is that the Administration and the

         23  delegation didn't meet until after there was a

         24  public announcement, and that just, you know, made

         25  the process a little more forced, but we had to make
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          2  it on time and be on time for today, so it required

          3  a lot of meetings over the last two weeks, but all

          4  sides have been very cooperative.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Let me just

          6  thank my colleague for the clarification and note

          7  that, of course, if the Queens Delegation is

          8  comfortable, so am I.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right. You

         10  know, again, I just want to admonish that all of the

         11  work that is being done, especially on the large

         12  footprint projects, you know, and the fact that the

         13  City is changing dealing with the need for ancillary

         14  sewers or highways or, in our case, on traffic, you

         15  know, is issues that you need to address quickly.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         18  by a number of colleagues.

         19                 We have Council Member Albert Vann

         20  from Brooklyn, Council Member Lew Fidler from

         21  Brooklyn, Councilman Eric Gioia from Queens,

         22  Councilman Vincent Gentile from Brooklyn, and our

         23  Majority Leader Council Member Joel Rivera from the

         24  Bronx, Council Member Maria Baez from the Bronx, and

         25  I think I got everybody else before.
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          2                 Any further questions?

          3                 Council Member Oddo.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman, I

          5  would just ask that you exercise the prerogative of

          6  the Chair and compel as best you can any of our

          7  colleagues, when they refer to the Mets from this

          8  point on for the rest of the day, they refer to them

          9  as the 2006 World Series Champion New York Mets.

         10                 Particularly, Mr. Chairman, colleague

         11  DeBlasio across the way.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: At least they've

         13  been in first place through the course of this

         14  hearing process.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: There is

         16  definitely a relationship.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: At this point

         18  we're happy with that.

         19                 Seeing no further questions, I'm

         20  going to couple the following items, Intro. 143,

         21  establishing the Flatbush/Nostrand Junction BID.

         22  Item 2, resolution approving amendment to the PILOT

         23  agreement to authorize the PILOTs for the new Bronx

         24  Stadium; and 3, a resolution approving the amendment

         25  to the PILOT agreement to authorize the PILOTs for
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          2  the new Queens Stadium.

          3                 Call the roll.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Weprin.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Aye on all.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Rivera.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I vote aye on

          8  all.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Baez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye on all.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Aye on all.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Chairman, may

         19  I be briefly excused to explain my vote?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you may.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: This law gives

         22  me a great deal more pleasure to vote for the Mets

         23  PILOT today than was for the Yankees, I would point

         24  out as well, that the Mets are not owned by a

         25  Watergate-related felon. That was for you, Jimmy.
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          2                 I also, on a much more serious note,

          3  want to thank this Committee for passing the

          4  Flatbush Nostrand Junction BID. I know it's in

          5  Councilman Stewart's district. It is immediately

          6  adjacent to mine and it's something that's long

          7  overdue. The Junction is the very hub of Central

          8  Brooklyn, Southern Brooklyn, and this is something

          9  we really need, and I'm glad the Committee is

         10  passing it today.

         11                 I vote aye on all.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gennaro.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Aye on all.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gerson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Aye on all.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gioia.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Mr. Chairman,

         18  may I have a second to explain my vote?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you may.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chair.

         22                 First, I actually don't see our

         23  colleague, Council Member Comrie, but I wanted to

         24  commend him. He has worked an extraordinary amount

         25  over the past three or four weeks to get this
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          2  agreement, and I want to commend him, for his

          3  leadership on this.

          4                 I also want to say I'm thrilled to be

          5  taking this vote today. This is a good project for

          6  Queens, it's a good project for New York City. The

          7  New York Mets have been a good neighbor, and I think

          8  they're going to be even a better neighbor over the

          9  next, what is it, 30 years?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Forty to 50

         11  years.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: The Mets have

         13  been a good neighbor and they're going to be an even

         14  better neighbor, and I'm proud to support this

         15  project. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I vote yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye on all.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Aye on all.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I vote aye on

         24  all with the caveat that my vote on the PILOTs for

         25  the two stadiums is predicated on the facts so well
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          2  articulated by the Chairman of the Committee that it

          3  assumes the favorable ruling by the Internal Revenue

          4  Service.

          5                 Having sat through the hearings and

          6  understanding that this is the first time that this

          7  type of funding is seeking that approval, not as

          8  certain, but clearly my vote is only as the package

          9  currently stands, without any further liability to

         10  the City of New York. And I congratulate the

         11  Chairman of this Committee and all those involved

         12  with these two projects for keeping two great teams

         13  in New York City. I vote aye.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I'm sorry,

         16  permission to explain my vote, Mr. Chair?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you may.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         19                 I just wish to say I'm voting aye on

         20  all, but there has been a lot of publicity in the

         21  paper about the Queens Delegation, and in a very

         22  unpleasant way.

         23                 If anything, the Queens Delegation is

         24  probably truly outstanding with all our colleagues

         25  in the fact that they put forward what they believed
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          2  was the right things in the negotiations.

          3                 And as our colleague Comrie said,

          4  that it wasn't until the very end that the

          5  Delegation was brought into it.

          6                 I have the utmost faith in the Mets.

          7  I believe that they will do everything that they've

          8  said they have. They have been good neighbors, even

          9  though that may be contrary to some people. This

         10  project is a good project for the City, a lot of

         11  thought went into it, and for those questions raised

         12  about the IRS, that was given a great deal of

         13  thought, and those questions were asked, and I

         14  believe very strongly that this project will go

         15  forth. It's good for the City, it's good for Queens,

         16  but in all, it's a good project for the entire City,

         17  and I believe that all our colleagues will benefit.

         18                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: How do you vote?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I vote aye.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vallone.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Permission to

         24  explain, Mr. Chair?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So ordered.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I would like

          3  to clarify some of the things that have been said

          4  about negotiations here.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Are you still

          6  available for short stop?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: We didn't get

          8  that done. I'm a little upset about that, by the

          9  way. Thought I could get there. I was there until

         10  you wanted to be thrown at second base, and they

         11  wouldn't go along with it.

         12                 But all right, what the hell was I

         13  talking about? The deal. The deal.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Short stop.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: There was an

         16  original hearing scheduled for this matter on April

         17  10th, I believe it was, and that date was a very

         18  important date to get this deal done, according to

         19  the Mets of the City, a hearing needed to be held to

         20  get the financing done.

         21                 There was some talk of not having

         22  that hearing, of getting an agreement done before

         23  that hearing, and I stated that we should have the

         24  hearing and negotiate in good faith with the Mets

         25  and the City, as the Mets and the City have
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          2  negotiated in the past.

          3                 And thanks to the leadership of Leroy

          4  Comrie, and yourself, Mr. Chair, that's exactly what

          5  happened, the process was not held up in any way by

          6  the Queens Delegation, and the financing was not

          7  jeopardized and at the end of the day, the Mets in

          8  the City have stepped to the plate and come up with

          9  a deal which will give both the Mets and the Yankees

         10  a first class stadium, which our fans deserve, and

         11  which will benefit our communities. And I'm proud of

         12  what we've done, and I vote aye on this.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vann.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Aye on all.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Yassky.

         17                 (No response.)

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gentile.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: With

         20  congratulations to Leroy Comrie and the Queens

         21  Delegation, I vote aye on all.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I proudly

         24  vote aye on all.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Oddo.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Can I be

          3  temporarily excused to explain my vote?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you may.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Let me just say

          6  right at the outset, actually Pete Vallone is a very

          7  good ballplayer. In fact, he's the second best

          8  athlete in the body.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: How many

         10  hearings are you looking for?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: He is a great

         12  athlete.

         13                 Let me just say that I'm not

         14  necessarily sold on the argument that a new stadium,

         15  any new stadium in and of itself revitalizes a

         16  particular area or a particular economy, and,

         17  frankly, I'm not sure if the taxpayers are big

         18  winners, winners, net net out here today, but this

         19  is New York and we have high expectations. We expect

         20  everything to be the best, and I think it's a little

         21  bit embarrassing that I drive to Philadelphia, which

         22  is a nice little City, a nice little City, and they

         23  have two brand new stadiums on that waterfront. I

         24  think the Mets and the Yankee organizations, I think

         25  the players and their fans, and I think that all New
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          2  Yorkers have the right to expect that we have the

          3  best of everything, and I think this is a step in

          4  that direction, and it's worth the investment by

          5  taxpayers. So, I proudly vote yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 19 in the

          7  affirmative, zero in the negative, no abstentions,

          8  all items are adopted.

          9                 Council Members, please sign the

         10  Committee reports. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm going to keep

         12  the roll open until the Stated Meeting for those

         13  members that are around the building that would like

         14  to vote.

         15                 Other than that, we're adjourned.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Yassky.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now currently

         19  stands at 20.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 1:00 p.m.)
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